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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Civil Action No. 14-6791 (SJF)(GRB)

Plaintiff,
- against METRO DATA MANAGEMENT, INC.
d/b/a DATA MARKETING GROUP, LTD.,
KEITHA ROCCO, individually and as an
Officer of Metro Data Management, Inc., 9097
9394 QUÉBEC INC. d/b/a INFOGEST
DIRECT MARKETING, MARY THANOS,
DANIEL SOUSSE, PHILIP LETT, DESTINY
RESEARCH CENTER, LTD., MARTIN
DETTLING, MARIA DUVAL, and PATRICK
GUERIN.
Defendants.

Plaintiff, the UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, by and through the undersigned
attorneys, hereby alleges as follows:
INTRODUCTION
1.

The United States brings this action for a temporary restraining order, preliminary

and permanent injunctions, and other equitable relief pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1345, in order to
enjoin the ongoing commission of criminal mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341. The
United States seeks to prevent continuing and substantial injury to the victims of fraud.
2.

Since at least 2000 and continuing to the present, Defendants, using the United

States mails, have engaged in a predatory mail fraud scheme. Defendants mail solicitations to
victims throughout the United States promoting various psychic and clairvoyant services and
purported talismans. The solicitations are written to give the impression that they are
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personalized to the individual recipient, and state that Defendants Maria Duval and Patrick
Guerin are psychics who have had visions or have otherwise determined through the use of
psychic powers that the individual recipient has the opportunity to achieve great wealth and
happiness. The solicitations often state that one of the purported psychics has seen the individual
recipient winning millions of dollars through the lottery. In reality, Defendants mail tens of
thousands of nearly identical, purportedly personalized solicitations every month to consumers
throughout the United States. The solicitations urge the recipient to purchase various
supernatural and divinatory objects or services in order to achieve the predicted wealth.
Defendants represent that these items are unique artifacts, when in reality these items are
purchased in bulk and sent to thousands of consumers.
3.

In response to receiving these direct mail solicitations, over one million American

consumers have sent payments to the Defendants totaling more than $180 million.
4.

For the reasons stated herein, the United States requests injunctive relief pursuant

to 18 U.S.C. § 1345 to enjoin Defendants’ ongoing scheme to defraud using the mail in violation
of 18 U.S.C. § 1341.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
5.

The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

§ 1345 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345.
6.

Venue lies in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2).
PARTIES

7.

Plaintiff is the United States of America.

8.

Defendant Metro Data Management, Inc. d/b/a Data Marketing Group, Ltd.

(“Data Marketing Group”) is, and was at all times relevant to this action, a corporation organized
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and existing under the laws of the State of New York. Data Marketing Group’s principal place
of business is 60 East Industry Court, Deer Park, New York, 11729, located in the Eastern
District of New York.
9.

Defendant Keitha Rocco is the president and CEO of Data Marketing Group.

Keitha Rocco resides in Suffolk County, New York, in the Eastern District of New York.
10.

Defendant 9097-9394 Québec Inc. d/b/a Infogest Direct Marketing (“Infogest”)

is, and was at all times relevant to this action, a corporation organized and existing under the
laws of the province of Québec, Canada. In connection with the matters alleged herein, Infogest
transacts business in the Eastern District of New York and throughout the United States.
11.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant Mary Thanos was the Director of

Operations of Infogest. In connection with the matters alleged herein, Thanos transacts business
in the Eastern District of New York and throughout the United States.
12.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant Daniel Sousse was the Customer

Relationships Manager at Infogest. In connection with the matters alleged herein, Sousse
transacts business in the Eastern District of New York and throughout the United States.
13.

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant Philip Lett was the Director of

Marketing of Infogest. In connection with the matters alleged herein, Lett transacts business in
the Eastern District of New York and throughout the United States.
14.

At all times relevant to this action, Destiny Research Center, Ltd. (“Destiny

Research Center”) was a corporation organized and existing under the laws of Hong Kong. In
connection with the matters alleged herein, Destiny Research Center transacts business in the
Eastern District of New York and throughout the United States.
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15.

At all times relevant to this action, Martin Dettling was the sole Director of

Destiny Research Center. In connection with the matters alleged herein, Dettling transacts
business in the Eastern District of New York and throughout the United States.
16.

At all times relevant to this action, Maria Duval licensed her name and used her

name, reputation and likeness to solicit money through the U.S. mail by direct mail solicitations
sent by Destiny Research Center. In connection with the matters alleged herein, Maria Duval
transacts business in the Eastern District of New York and throughout the United States.
17.

At all times relevant to this action, Patrick Guerin licensed his name and used his

name, reputation and likeness to solicit money through the U.S. mail by direct mail solicitations
sent by Destiny Research Center. In connection with the matters alleged herein, Patrick Guerin
transacts business in the Eastern District of New York and throughout the United States.
DEFENDANTS’ ONGOING FRAUDULENT SCHEME
18.

Beginning at least as early as 2000, Defendants have engaged in, are engaging in,

and will continue to engage in a mail fraud scheme that has defrauded consumers throughout the
United States out of more than $180 million.
19.

Defendant Destiny Research Center, acting through its agent, Infogest, sends

solicitation letters through the United States Postal Service to consumers throughout the United
States. These solicitations promote the psychic and clairvoyant services of Defendants Maria
Duval and Patrick Guerin (collectively, “the psychics”). Destiny Research Center sends dozens
of different form solicitations to consumers, all styled as personalized letters, and all offering
predictions of impending wealth, the opportunity to win large sums of money, or other good
fortune. The solicitations misrepresent that one of the psychics learned of the specific consumer
and the consumer’s potential to accumulate great wealth through a dream or vision. Recipients
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of the solicitations were in fact identified through the purchase of commercial mailing lists. The
solicitations urge consumers to purchase various objects and psychic services as a means to
ensure that the predicted wealth and good fortune come to pass for a cost of approximately $40$50. Consumers who purchase products or services in response to the solicitations are then
bombarded with numerous additional, similar solicitations.
20.

Defendant Infogest, operating out of Montreal, Canada, manages the Maria Duval

and Patrick Guerin direct mail campaigns on behalf of Defendant Destiny Research Center.
Infogest oversees and hires third-party vendors to acquire lists of thousands of consumer
addresses, to print and mail solicitations, to collect and process victim payments, and to send
fulfillment materials and additional solicitations in response to customer orders.
21.

Infogest has managed the direct mail operations for the Maria Duval psychic

solicitations since at least the year 2000. Prior to 2007, Infogest ran the Maria Duval operations
on behalf of the corporate entity Zodiac Zone. On April 20, 2007, the United States Postal
Service issued a cease and desist order (No. CD-4667) against Maria Duval and Zodiac Zone,
ordering them to:
cease and desist immediately from falsely representing, in connection with any
promotional materials sent through the mail to consumers for whom Respondents
possess no personal information other than name, address and the fact that the
consumer’s name and address appear on a particular mailing list, directly or
indirectly, expressly or impliedly in substance and effect, whether by affirmative
statements, implication or omissions that: (a) The consumer of the solicitation was
specifically selected to receive the mailing based on a reason other than the fact
that the consumer’s name appears on an mailing list; (b) Respondents are aware
of specific intimate information (e.g. birth date) about the consumer which will
directly impact on the person’s well being.
22.

Since 2007, Infogest has sent the Maria Duval and Patrick Guerin solicitations on

behalf of Destiny Research Group and Defendant Destiny Research Center. Many of the Maria
Duval solicitations sent by Infogest on behalf of Destiny Research Center are virtually identical
5
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to solicitations previously sent on behalf of Zodiac Zone. Infogest has continued to manage the
Maria Duval and Patrick Guerin direct mail campaigns.
23.

Maria Duval and Patrick Guerin license to Destiny Research Center the right to

use of their names and likenesses in conjunction with the marketing of psychic and astrological
goods and services within the United States.
24.

Infogest has no more than five employees, and at all times relevant to this

complaint, Defendants Thanos, Sousse, and Lett have been the individuals managing the Duval
and Guerin direct mail campaigns for Infogest.
25.

Thanos is the Director of Operations of Infogest and has been primarily

responsible for management of the Maria Duval and Patrick Guerin direct mail campaigns in the
United States since at least 2000. Thanos communicated with a third-party company to license
lists of names and addresses from list brokers for the Duval and Guerin mailings. Thanos also
corresponded with third-party companies that provided printing and fulfillment mailing services.
Thanos directed the fulfillment companies regarding what trinkets and written materials should
be sent to purchasers who placed orders in response to specific solicitations. Thanos
corresponded with the fulfillment companies to ensure that they had enough volume on hand of
specific trinkets to meet the anticipated customer demand in response to a specific mass
solicitation.
26.

Thanos knew, based on her role in overseeing the operations of the Duval and

Guerin schemes, that the letters and trinkets sent to purchasers were not individualized or unique,
as the solicitations represented.
27.

For example, in June 2014, Thanos sent a third-party fulfillment company a .pdf

of the flyer for a new Maria Duval “promotion,” and provided fulfillment instructions regarding
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what products should be sent to customers who place orders in response to the promotion. That
flyer is attached here as Exhibit A. Thanos states that for this first promotion, they are expecting
“about 700 Cnd orders & 2,700 US.” Thanos states that the product for this promotion is the
“LAK statue,” that the fulfillment company should “use the one that the made in China label has
been removed,” and that the statue would need to be wrapped in brown paper and tied with
string. She then directs the fulfillment company to look at the attached flyer for an idea of how
the parcel should look. She also states that the promotion has a second gift which is sheets of
paper rolled and tied. The attached promotion flyer is styled as if written by Maria Duval herself
and describes Duval’s trip to India to visit a shaman. The flyer contains a picture of a parcel
wrapped in paper and string and states, “This is the mysterious parcel I brought back for you,
containing your precious statue. As you can see, I haven’t opened it, as that is for you and you
alone. As soon as it’s opened, you will feel its positive radiance and your life will start to
change!” The flyer also contains a picture of a scroll wrapped in string and states, “This is the
rare parchment that Shaman Arkashmiri gave me for you, which will help you win even more
money!”
28.

Sousse is the Customer Relationships Manager for Infogest. Sousse has been

involved in the management of the Maria Duval and Patrick Guerin direct mail campaign in the
United States for over ten years. Sousse’s role has included receiving and responding to all
complaints regarding the Maria Duval and Patrick Guerin solicitations, including those (a) in
which consumers threaten to sue, (b) submitted through the Better Business Bureau, and (c) from
state attorneys general.
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29.

Sousse knew, based on his role in the operations of the Duval and Guerin

schemes, that the letters and trinkets sent to purchasers were not individualized or unique, as the
solicitations represented.
30.

Lett is the Director of Marketing for Infogest. Lett has been involved in the

management of the Maria Duval and Patrick Guerin direct mail campaign in the United States
for over ten years. In his role as Director of Marketing, Lett has corresponded with third-party
companies that provided printing and fulfillment mailing services in support of the Duval and
Guerin direct mail schemes. He has directed these fulfillment companies regarding which
fulfillment products should be provided to fulfill orders placed in response to particular Duval
and Guerin solicitations. He has also directed these fulfillment companies regarding the
formatting of Duval and Guerin solicitations.
31.

Lett knew, based on his role in the operations of the Duval and Guerin schemes,

that the letters and trinkets sent to purchasers were not individualized or unique, as the
solicitations represented.
32.

Specifically, in July of 2012, Lett directed an employee of a fulfillment company

to use a random number generator to fill in days, hours, and lucky numbers in a letter from Maria
Duval. The form letter from Maria Duval states, “I would advise you to note down these dates
and numbers. I’ve calculated them specifically for you for the coming months. These are the
intensely lucky, perhaps ‘magical’ dates on which the astral forces charged with luck, money,
love and success will be finely attuned with your personal sensibilities.” The form letter is
attached here as Exhibit B. The letter then contains a chart listing twelve dates, each with an
associated time of day and six “Special numbers with great luck potential.” Lett directed the
employee of the fulfillment company to complete the letters with “2 random days for each of the
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next 6 months,” “HOURS Randomly from 8 AM to 9 PM,” and “6 numbers randomly from 1 to
56.” The fulfillment employee confirms that, with regard to the lucky numbers, “Each set will
repeat (but not within the same order) and so each order should be fairly different looking and
when repeats appear they will most often be in different locations.”
33.

Infogest contracts with a third-party company to print and mail the Duval and

Guerin solicitations. The printed Duval and Guerin solicitations are shipped by truck from
Canada across the border into the United States and are deposited with the U.S. Postal Service in
Albany, New York. Destiny Research Center mails solicitations in batches of as many as 20,000
or 50,000 pieces of mail at a time.
34.

From 2006 through the present, Infogest has sent over 56 million pieces of mail to

consumers in the United States on behalf of Maria Duval, Patrick Guerin, and Destiny Research
Center.
35.

The solicitations contain an order form and return envelope for consumers to mail

responses and payment. The return envelopes are pre-addressed to Destiny Research Center at
one of three addresses. Those addresses belong to Commercial Mail Receiving Agencies
(“CMRAs”) in Nevada, Illinois and Ontario, Canada. The CMRA accounts were opened by
Defendant Dettling. The CMRAs bundle the mail they receive from victims addressed to
Destiny Research Center and forward the mail to Defendant Data Marketing Group.
36.

Defendant Data Marketing Group opens all incoming mail from consumer

victims, processes consumer payments, including scanning and depositing checks, and enters the
names, addresses and orders of consumers who respond with payments into a database.
Defendants also review correspondence from consumers for refund requests. These services are
known in the direct mail industry as “caging services.”
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37.

Data Marketing Group processes as much as $500,000 worth of victim payments

on behalf of Destiny Research Center every two weeks.
38.

Data Marketing Group opens and reads mail from consumers in order to enter

requests for refunds into a database. Over three separate one-week periods in 2014, Data
Marketing Group received a total of approximately 1,500 letters written by consumers and
addressed to “Duval” and “Guerin,” and to the psychic characters utilized by a similar scheme
for which Data Marketing Group also provides caging services. The consumers frequently wrote
about topics like receiving Medicare or Social Security benefits, large debts, and medical illness
or ailments, and pleaded for the psychics to intervene and address these challenges. Many
consumers complained in letters that products or services purchased were not working as
promised or about the volume of solicitations received.
39.

Based on these letters, Data Marketing Group knew that many victims believed

they were personally corresponding with the psychics, when in fact they were recipients of form
letters. Based on the text of the solicitations and the sheer volume of mail, Data Marketing
Group knows that the solicitations sent by Destiny Research Center are form letters.
40.

Once customer payments are entered into the database, a third-party fulfillment

company sends the product ordered to the customer, along with a new solicitation offering
further psychic predictions and urging the purchase of additional items and services.
41.

Data Marketing Group sends invoices for the caging services it performs on

behalf of Destiny Research Center to Thanos, Infogest’s Director of Operations.
42.

Data Marketing Group seeks permission from Sousse, Infogest’s Customer

Relationships Manager, prior to issuing large refunds to victims of the Destiny Research Center
fraud. Data Marketing Group forwards to Sousse questions from Destiny Research Center
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victims regarding order fulfillment. Data Marketing Group also sends Sousse reports regarding
the general content of letters from victims, as well as any specific complaints about certain
products or psychic readings received in victim letters. At all relevant times, Sousse reviewed
and directed the handling of customer relations, including complaints, as part of the mail fraud
scheme.
SPECIFIC MISREPRESENTATIONS
Personal Knowledge and Personalized Predictions for Consumers
43.

The solicitations misrepresent to consumers that “Maria Duval” and “Patrick

Guerin” have personal knowledge of the individual recipient and that the recipient was selected
to receive the mailing based on a reason other than the fact that the person’s name appears on a
mailing list. The solicitations misrepresent that the psychics have seen visions of the individual
recipient winning huge sums of money or receiving other good fortune. In fact, Defendants send
nearly identical solicitations to tens of thousands of consumers. Defendants use a mail merge to
insert the names of consumers and occasionally numeric details, such as the number appearing
on a talisman, into pre-written form letters.
44.

One such solicitation informs consumers that “Maria Duval” and “Patrick Guerin”

both had complementary psychic visions revealing that the consumer would win substantial
money through the lottery. In order to receive the lottery winnings predicted by the psychics, the
solicitation urges consumers to spend $50 to receive a talisman and the “Invaluable Guide to a
New Life” and to have Maria Duval perform a “Grand Ceremony.” Specific misrepresentations
contained in this solicitation include the following:


So, now 2 internationally acclaimed psychics have predicted what your future
holds in store for you…it’s fantastic news, [victim name]…take note of these 4
things that are very important for you: April 2, 2014, Powerball, Winnings,
Problems Solved
11
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Patrick Guerin told me he had experienced incredible visions of amazing clarity,
the likes of which he had rarely ever experienced…At this point, Patrick Guerin
saw he could help these people and among them, he saw YOU [victim name]!
Yes, this great psychic of international renown KNOWS how to help these people
really win massive sums of money on games of “chance” that could make their
financial woes a thing of the past.



The most surprising thing is, [victim name]…I saw the same thing for
you!...There is no doubt at all, [victim name], that you are among this small group
of people about whom Patrick Guerin and I had such clear visions.

The solicitation containing the above statements is attached hereto as Exhibit C. Nearly identical
solicitations were sent to thousands of other consumers. These solicitations include copies of
“notes” purportedly written by the psychics during their individualized visions regarding the
recipient of the solicitation. The “notes” are printed to appear hand written, but identical “notes”
appear in the solicitations to other consumers, save for the name and birth date of the individual
recipient.
Defendants Misrepresent That the Products and Services They Offer for Sale Are Unique and
Will Bring the Purchaser Wealth and Good Fortune
45.

Defendants urge recipients of their solicitations to purchase various products,

such as talismans and artifacts, or psychic services, which they fraudulently represent will bring
the purchaser wealth and other good fortune. Defendants misrepresent that these products and
services are unique and have been developed specifically for an individual consumer. In fact,
Defendants offer identical items to thousands of other consumers, and use the services of a thirdparty fulfillment company to ship thousands of identical items to consumers around the country.
Moreover, contrary to Defendants’ misrepresentations, the purported talismans and services
bring no wealth or good fortune.
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46.

Defendants include such misrepresentations in the solicitation attached here as

Exhibit C, including the following statements:


Patrick Guerin knows a good part of the help you’re going to need to win this
money and sort out all your most urgent money problems while I know the other
parts. In fact, between us, we have the solution to all your most urgent problems!
We locked ourselves in for 3 days and worked together around the clock to
perfect a brilliant, unique and very dynamic and personalized help plan that
comes in 2 parts.



We’ve written down everything we’ve seen for you in one unique, invaluable but
very straightforward document….[With the “Invaluable Guide to New Life”],
you’re going to know what day and what numbers you need to play to win again
and again (all you’re going to need to do is check off the numbers we indicate to
you on your lottery tickets).



In celebration of your NEW LIFE, we’ve prepared a mysterious and extraordinary
gift for you – a powerful Talisman that can attract MONEY and LUCK. It’s the
same Talisman that Patrick Guerin carries with him all the time. He’s never
shared it before, but in your case he had no hesitation. The most powerful and
ancient Talisman we have ever known is now YOURS!

The talisman and the “Invaluable Guide to new Life” are offered to thousands of other
consumers throughout the country through the same form letter. This is just one example of
dozens of form letters that Defendants send to consumers by the thousands promising
“personalized” psychic products and services.
Solicitation of Further Personal Information from Recipients Under the False Premise
That Such Information Will be Used for Personalized Psychic Predictions
47.

Several of the solicitations sent to consumers by Destiny Research Center request

that the consumers send back further information, such as their birth date, or physical items such
as hair or photographs, in order to allow the psychics to create more accurate predictions for
those consumers.
48.

As one example, one solicitation offers a “personal astral-clairvoyant forecast”

from Maria Duval for $45. The solicitation also encloses a green envelope and requests that
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consumers send back in the envelope a personal photograph or a few strands of hair. The
solicitation states:
As soon as I have your photo (or the strands of hair from your head) in my
possession, I am going to be able to concentrate all my psychic strengths further. I
will keep the photo with me for the months and years to come so that my contact as a
medium can be with you permanently, [victim name]….[Victim name], with this in
hand, I can prepare your detailed personal astral-clairvoyant forecast in the next few
days.
The outside of the green envelope contains instructions to place a photograph or hair inside, and
states, “Once this envelope has been sealed, it may be opened ONLY by me,” followed by Maria
Duval’s signature. In fact, employees at Data Marketing Group throw the green envelopes
returned by consumers into the trash without opening them.
49.

The specific misrepresentations identified in paragraphs 43 through 48 are only a

few of examples of the similar misrepresentations contained in dozens of form letter solicitations
utilized by Defendants. Defendants knew that the letters sent to consumers were not in fact
personalized letters, but were form letters sent to thousands of consumers throughout the United
States.
50.

The product order pages of the solicitations contain text running vertically down

the side of the page stating that “individual results may vary” and “For novelty and entertainment
purposes only.” The text is printed in micro print and intentionally blurred to make it barely
decipherable. Recipients are highly unlikely to see, let alone read and understand this tiny print.
This hidden disclaimer does nothing to counteract the overall impression conveyed by the
solicitations that they contain accurate predictions of guaranteed future wealth and happiness.
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HARM TO CONSUMERS
51.

Consumers suffer financial losses from the lies told by Defendants. Consumers

have paid Defendants over $180 million in response to solicitations containing the types of
misrepresentations described above. The Fraud Complaint System operated by the United States
Postal Inspection Service contained at least 700 complaints referencing Maria Duval or Destiny
Research Center as of September 30, 2014. The Consumer Sentinel database operated by the
Federal Trade Commission contained at least 500 similar complaints as of the same date. The
complaints generally pertain to false representations and fraud related to the products or services
provided by Duval or Guerin. Victims also complain about a lack of refunds and the large
number of solicitations they receive. This harm to consumers is ongoing and will continue
without the injunctive relief sought by the United States.
COUNT I
(18 U.S.C. § 1345 – Injunctive Relief)
52.

The United States realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through

51 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.
53.

By reason of the conduct described herein, Defendants violated, are violating, and

are about to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1349 by executing a scheme or artifice to defraud or
for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent representations with the intent to
defraud, and, in so doing, using the United States mails and/or a private or commercial interstate
carrier.
54.

Upon a showing that Defendants are committing or about to commit mail fraud,

the United States is entitled, under 18 U.S.C. § 1345, to a temporary restraining order, a
preliminary injunction, and a permanent injunction, restraining all future fraudulent conduct and
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any other action that this Court deems just in order to prevent a continuing and substantial injury
to the victims of fraud.
55.

As a result of the foregoing, Defendants’ conduct should be enjoined pursuant to

18 U.S.C. § 1345.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the plaintiff United States of America requests of the Court the following
relief:
(a)

A temporary restraining order under 18 U.S.C. § 1345 as follows:
i.

Enjoining Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other
persons and entities in active concert or participation with them from
committing mail fraud, as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 1341;

ii.

Enjoining Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other
persons and entities in active concert or participation with them from using the
United States mails or causing others to use the mails to distribute:
1. any advertisements, solicitations, or promotional materials on behalf
of Destiny Research Center, Maria Duval, Patrick Guerin or any other
actual or fictional individual or entity purporting to offer psychic,
clairvoyant or astrological items or services for a fee;
2. any advertisements, solicitations, or promotional materials that
represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or impliedly, that the
recipient of the solicitation was specifically selected to receive the
mailing based on a reason other than the fact that the recipient’s name
appears on a mailing list;
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3.any advertisements, solicitations, or promotional materials that
represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or impliedly, that services or
items offered for purchase will, or could, improve the consumer’s
financial condition; or
4. any other false and misleading advertisements, solicitations, or
promotional materials;
iii.

Enjoining Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other
persons and entities in active concert or participation with them from
receiving or causing to be delivered any incoming mail, at any address
anywhere in the United States of America, which is responsive to the
solicitations that are the subject of this action, or any other solicitations
substantially similar thereto;

iv.

Enjoining Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other
persons and entities in active concert or participation with them from selling
or offering for sale any lists of consumers or mailing lists of any type
compiled from consumers who have responded to solicitations bearing the
names Destiny Research Center, Maria Duval, or Patrick Guerin;

v.

Enjoining Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other
persons and entities in active concert or participation with them from
performing “caging services,” including processing direct mail payments and
orders, credit card processing, and check scanning, with regard to direct mail
solicitations on behalf of Destiny Research Center, Maria Duval, Patrick
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Guerin or any other actual or fictional individual or entity purporting to offer
psychic, clairvoyant or astrological items or services for a fee;
vi.

Ordering Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other
persons and entities in active concert or participation with them to preserve all
business, financial, accounting, and other records concerning the operations of
Data Marketing Group, Infogest and any other corporate entity controlled by
Defendants;

vii.

Authorizing the United States Postal Service to detain all of Defendants’
incoming mail, at any address anywhere in the United States of America,
which is responsive to the solicitations which are the subject of this action, or
any others substantially similar thereto; and

viii.

Authorizing the United States Postal Service to detain any advertisements,
solicitations, and promotional materials which are the subject of this action
and any substantially similar advertisements, solicitations, and promotional
materials that are deposited into the United States mails by Defendants, their
agents, officers, or employees, or any other persons or entities in active
concert or participation with them.

(b)

A preliminary injunction on the same basis and to the same effect;

(c)

A permanent injunction under 18 U.S.C. § 1345 on the same basis and to the same

effect, except that paragraph (a)(vi) supra shall be excluded from the final order. Further,
paragraph(a)(vii) supra shall be modified to read as follows:
Authorizing the United States Postal Service to detain and return to sender all of
Defendants’ incoming mail, at any address anywhere in the United States of
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America, which is responsive to the solicitations which are the subject of this
action, or any others substantially similar thereto;
Paragraph (a)(viii) supra shall be modified to read as follows:
Authorizing the United States Postal Service to detain and destroy any
advertisements, solicitations, and promotional materials which are the subject of
this action and any substantially similar advertisements, solicitations, and
promotional materials that are deposited into the United States mails by
Defendants, their agents, officers, or employees, or any other persons or entities in
active concert or participation with them.
(d)

For such other and further relief as the Court shall deem just and proper.

Dated: November 6, 2015
ROBERT L. CAPERS
United States Attorney
Eastern District of New York
271 Cadman Plaza East
Brooklyn, New York 11201

BENJAMIN C. MIZER
Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General
Civil Division
United States Department of Justice
JONATHAN F. OLIN
Deputy Assistant Attorney General

s/ John Vagelatos_________________
JOHN VAGELATOS
Assistant United States Attorney
Tel. (718) 254-6182
Fax: (718) 254-6081
john.vagelatos@usdoj.gov

MICHAEL S. BLUME
Director
Consumer Protection Branch

s/ Ann F. Entwistle________________
ANN F. ENTWISTLE
Trial Attorney
U.S. Department of Justice
P.O. Box 386
Washington, D.C. 20044
Tel. (202) 305-3630
Fax: (202) 514-8742
E-mail: Ann.F.Entwistle@usdoj.gov
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Firstname, you now hold the
Secret of the Words of Power…

MARIA DUVAL

<Date>

Dear <Firstname>,

I have now received your "CONFIRMATION FORM" giving your
consent to receive Absolute Power, in the form of the WORDS OF
POWER, along with your payment.
I’d like to congratulate you on your fast response to my
previous letter, and for accepting my offer to join the elite
circle of initiates. This is the sort of opportunity not
everyone gets.
It’s a Secret that really can bring you everything your heart
desires. There’s no limit to the ways it can help you (money,
luck, love, winnings, solving family problems, difficult
situations, etc.).
The Words of Power are a magnificent privilege, but they also
carry a responsibility. You can of course use them as you wish,
and as often as you wish, but always to do good.
In all sincerity though, I don’t doubt you, <Firstname>,
because I know you’re a worthy person. That’s why I decided to
send you this incredibly powerful Secret.
I’m absolutely delighted to put this precious Secret in your
hands– the WORDS OF POWER, contained in a very special book.
I recommend you read it very carefully, because it’s
important to really absorb the full force of the Words of
Power.
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I’m also giving you some practical tips, so you can make the
best use of them, and achieve whatever it is you most want, in
all areas of your personal, social and professional life.
Consider this book a friend who will remain by your side, so
your life will be forever beautiful and rich!
As promised I will reveal below your mysterious gift - «the
Table for Activating Numbers with Great Luck Potential» with
the exact dates and times so you can boost your chances of
winning a fortune and making a success of your life.
I would advise you to note down these dates and numbers.
I’ve calculated them specifically for you for the coming
months. These are the intensely lucky, perhaps ‘magical’ dates
on which the astral forces charged with luck, money, love and
success will be finely attuned with your personal
sensibilities.

Table for Activating Numbers
with Great Luck Potential
Day
August 3rd 2011
August 25th 2011
September 1st 2011
September 7th 2011
October 15th 2011
October 27th 2011
November 3rd 2011
November 17th 2011
December 1st 2011
December 21st 2011
January 3rd 2012
January 12th 2012

Time
14.00
09.00
16.00
20.00
10.00
11.00
18.00
09.00
13.00
13.00
18.00
20.00

Special numbers
with great luck potential
1 - 56 – 45 – 46 – 32 – 20
42 – 15 – 20 – 12 – 35 – 8
25 – 47 – 2 – 25 – 41 – 39
Etc.

On these special days you might want to buy a lottery ticket,
schedule meetings and plan all sorts of important jobs, as
well, of course, as using these numbers WITH the corresponding
Words of Power. Your intuition will tell you the best way to do
this.
If you do this you’ll boost the strength of the Words of
Power and I can assure you that the results will amaze you.
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You’ll finally be able to get everything you’ve wanted and
dreamed of for so long!
A veritable "avalanche" of happy events will flood into your
life, as the luck that has been "blocked" for many long years
is finally released…
All that remains now is to initiate you into this magnificent
secret, so you can use it and finally take the step across the
threshold into a fulfilling and successful life.
You can be sure I’ll be using all my skill as an established
clairvoyant and my occult gift to help you along.
I hope, from the bottom of my heart, that you find happiness
and prosperity with these incredible Words of Power …

Firstname, from today onwards, a new life is starting
for you! And I ‘m so happy for you !
Your true friend,
Maria Duval
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